IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No.: 81,901

Florida Bar Case No.: 91-560(15c)

vs.

MARZELL MITCHELL, JR.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Review from the Referee's Report and Recommendation issued December 9, 1993, in Fort Lauderdale, Broward County, Florida.

MARZELL MITCHELL, JR., ESQUIRE Florida Bar No.: 188285 2000 Main Street, Suite 406

Fort Myers, Florida 33901

(813) 332-0191

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Respondent, Marzell Mitchell, Jr., will be referred to by name or as the Respondent. The Complainant will be referred to as the Bar.

Citations to the original one volume record on appeal will be made by letter "R" and the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Referee recommending to the Supreme Court a three month suspension for Respondent in violation of particular rules of conduct. A hearing on the Bar's complaint for disciplinary action was held on December 3, 1993 before Referee Leonard C. Stafford. Respondent appeared pro se. On December 9, 1993, the Referee filed his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Memorandum and Recommendation that Respondent be suspended for three (3) months with automatic reinstatement at the end of this period. Respondent was also placed on a one year probation period pursuant to Rule 3-5.1(c). A copy of the Referee's report is appended.

Respondent disputes the Referee's suspension recommendation and requests that the Supreme Court modify the Referee's recommendation by reversing the suspension and allowing the Respondent be placed on either a one or two year probation with periodic audits of his trust account.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 14, 1991, the Florida Bar, served a subpoena to Mr. Mitchell for his Barnett trust account records, account #1639500407. A month later, the Bar, then served upon the Barnett bank a subpoena for Mr. Mitchell's trust account records for the period January 1, 1989 through February 1991.

On June 7, 1993, the Florida Bar issued a complaint against Mr. Mitchell. The original complaint stated that Mr. Mitchell violated six rules regulating the Florida Bar. This included the following alleged violations:

Count I: That Mr. Mitchell commingle his personal funds, and legal fees, with that of his clients.

Count II: That Mr. Mitchell calculated and received an excessive fee amount for a personal injury claim.

Count III: That Mr. Mitchell failed to maintain trust accounting records.

Count IV: That Mr. Mitchell failed to follow minimum trust accounting procedures.

Count V: That Mr. Mitchell violated Rule 4-1.15(a) in that a lawyer may not commingle his own funds with those of his clients.

Count VI: That Mr. Mitchell had not established an IOTA account for the benefit of the Florida Bar.

Mr. Mitchell was found not guilty on Count II of the complaint but found guilty on Counts I, III, IV, V, and VI.

As to Count I, the Bar specifically refers to a bank statement with the copy of a personal check attached depicting a deposit of fifteen hundred (\$1500) dollars into the trust account. (See Bar's Complaint, exhibit 8) The bank statement also indicated that there

was a negative balance. Mr. Mitchell, in his attempt to avoid the negative balance and to defray bank costs, deposited this fifteen hundred dollar check into the trust account #1639500407. At the time of the deposit, there were no other funds, particularly clients' funds, in Mr. Mitchell's trust account.

After two years of denying Mr. Mitchell access to his records, the Bar discovered two checks for attorney fees which were deposited into Mr. Mitchell's account. These checks were the result of successful worker's compensation claims that Mr. Mitchell had settled and were directly made out to Mr. Mitchell by each employers' insurer. In both situations, the insurer issued a check in the name of the attorney and one for the clients. In this case, the clients were Berthena McCarter and Mary Benton. The Bars' accusations in Counts I and V charging Mr. Mitchell with commingling of funds directly focused on these checks.

In each case, Mr. Mitchell did not deposit the client's checks into his trust account since these checks required only the names of the clients. In each situation, Mr. Mitchell had the authority to settle. In each case, Mr. Mitchell was not aware as to whether these indivduals would get their money or accept the amount the clients were entitled to or accept Mr. Mitchell's fees, since each had relocated to different addresses. Particularly, Ms. Benton had moved from Florida to California and back to Georgia during the period her claim was being settled. Mr. Mitchell believed he was not entitled to collect his attorney fees until after the clients agreed to the amounts and signed their closing statements.

Therefore, Mr. Mitchell deposited his future fees in his trust account pending each client's acquiescence to the settlement amounts.

Mr. Mitchell, a sole practitioner, is the only African-American private general practioner within a radius of fifty miles of the Fort Myers area. Mr. Mitchell is not an accountant nor does he have any accounting experience. However, Mr. Mitchell maintained the minimum trust requirements, procedures and records to the best of his ability.

Additionally, as to Count VI, Mr. Mitchell was under the misconception that the interest bearing trust account was in fact an IOTA account. During these proceedings, Mr. Mitchell learned that his trust account was not an IOTA. Whereupon Mr. Mitchell immediately contacted Barnett bank and pursued the matter to change the trust account over to an IOTA account. This modification took place in August, 1991 and the account has been an IOTA account from that date through the present time. Moreover, the interest earned on these client monies has been paid to the Florida Bar Foundation to date.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the current Bar investigation, the Referee held that Mr. Mitchell should be suspended for three months when the alleged trust fund violations took place over three years ago. The Referee's decision is excessive and should be modified to reflect the actual impact of Respondent's harm and reflect that Mr. Mitchell has made the necessary changes to mitigate any potential future violations. Thus, Mr. Mitchell contends that the Referee's decision is erroneous since it is not substantiated by the record.

ARGUMENT

I. RESPONDENT, MARZELL MITCHELL, JR., MUST BE FOUND NOT GUILTY ON ALL COUNTS SINCE THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION.

Attorney Mitchell submits that the goal of every disciplinary action is the public's protection and not the attorney's punishment. DeBrock v. State of Florida, 512 So. 2d 164, 167 (Fla. 1987) citing The Florida Bar v. Massfeller, 170 So. 2d 834, 839 (Fla. 1964). The referee's findings of fact and recommendation should normally be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support. The Florida Bar v. Weinstein, 624 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993) citing The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986).

Additionally, the Florida Supreme court has long held that a bar disciplinary action must serve three purposes:

- (a) the judgment must be fair to society;
- (b) the judgment must be fair to the attorney; and,
- (c) the judgment must sufficiently deter other attorneys from similar misconduct.

Weinstein, 624 So. 2d at 260, citing, e.g., The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So. 2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1992); The Florida Bar v. Loro, 433 So. 2d 983, 986 (Fla. 1983); The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So. 2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970).

First, Mr. Mitchell submits that the Referee lacked sufficient evidence in which to recommend a three month suspension since the charges were not derived from a client's formal complaint. This recommendation is not fair to the general Fort Myer's area where Mr. Mitchell practices. In fact, no client was dissatisfied with

Mr. Mitchell's handling of their case. For example, in one instance, Mr. James H. Lewis stated he was "perfectly satisfied" with Mr. Mitchell's handling of his claim especially when no other attorney would take him and his wife's personal injury claim. (See, Mr. James H. Lewis Sworn Statement to Bar Counsel 12/3/93; p.4, lines 7-17).

Although Mr. Mitchell has clients from all economic and racial backgrounds, Mr. Mitchell's primary practice consists of serving an African-America community in which he is the only African-American private general legal practioner within a fifty mile radius of the Fort Myers area. Mr. Mitchell's suspension would eliminate the African-American community's opportunity to obtain attorney services from an attorney with the same ethnic background. Mr. Mitchell handles a considerable amount of cases on a pro bono basis. Without Mr. Mitchell's availability to the community, many people would not be able to have their day in court.

Additionally, Mr. Mitchell has cases pending on appeal and in the lower courts. A three month suspension at this time would be detrimental and possibly bring substantial hardship to his clients.

Second, this recommendation is unfair to Mr. Mitchell because a consecutive three month suspension will result in a substantial economic hardship to his solo practice. Mr. Mitchell is the major income producer in his family and many people rely on his income for their survival. For example, these proceedings have necessitated the withdrawal of his daughter Lynn from undergraduate studies at the University of Miami due to the economic strain this

investigation has created on him and his practice.

Third, this recommendation does not sufficiently deter other attorneys from misconduct since the Referee gave him no guidance as to how a sole practitioner should handle transactions concerning the trust account. Respondent is aware of the CLE's and Florida Bar Rules available to him in obtaining this information, however, a suspension does not deter the potential violator. Rigorous and continuous education on these procedures would be a more reasonable solution in deterring future misconduct by attorneys. Mr. Mitchell submits that a mandatory number of CLE credits in trust accounting procedures per reporting period would provide a better means of deterring future misconduct by attorneys.

Moreover, the alleged violations occurred (according to the Bar's complaint) between January 1, 1989 and February 28, 1991 which was over three years ago. Since that time, Mr. Mitchell has instituted new procedures and hired a certified public accountant to make monthly reconciliations of his trust account records. Mr. Mitchell has also installed computer technology to assist him in the proper maintenance of his records. Requiring measures such as these would help promote compliance from other attorneys.

A. Respondent Must Be Found Not Guilty Of Commingling Of Funds Since There Were No Client Funds In His Trust Account.

Rule 4-1.5(a) of the Rules regulating Trust Funds states that "In no event may the lawyer commingle the client's funds with those of the lawyer to those of the lawyer's law firm." Commingling of funds is defined as the act of a fiduciary mingling funds of his

client with his own funds. Black's Law Dictionary p. 246 (6th Ed. 1993). Additionally, Rule 5-1.1(e)(7) entitled Determination of Nominal or Short Term Funds states:

The lawyer shall exercise good faith judgment in determing upon receipt whether the funds of a client or third person are nominal or short term. In the exercise of this good faith judgment, the lawyer shall consider such factors as:

- (A) the amount of a client's or third person's funds to be held by the lawyer or law firm;
- (B) the period of time such funds are expected to be held;
- (C) the likelihood of delay in the relevant transaction(s) or proceeding(s);
- (D) the cost to the lawyer or law firm of establishing and maintaining an interest bearing account or other appropriate investment for the benefit of the client or third person; and
- (E) minimum balance requirements and/or service charges or fees imposed by the financial institution.

The determination of whether a client's or third person's funds are nominal or short term shall rest in the sound judgment of the lawyer or law firm. No lawyer shall be charged with ethical impropriety or other breach of professional conduct based on the exercise of such good faith judgment.

(emphasis added.)

The Florida Bar in Counts I & V in its complaint, alleged that Mr. Mitchell commingled funds by depositing attorney fees and personal funds with client funds in his trust account. The Referee reviewed a bank statement with the copy of a personal check to Mr. Mitchell attached depicting that a deposit of this check into the trust account took place. (See Bar's Complaint, Exhibit 8). The bank statement indicated that there was a negative balance and to avoid such, Mr. Mitchell put personal funds into his trust Account. In other words, there were no other funds in the account at the

time of Mr. Mitchell's personal fund deposit.

Mr. Mitchell made these deposits of his personal funds into the trust account in a good faith effort to maintain the minimum balance requirement and keep the trust account open. (See Rules 5-1.1(e)(7)(D),(F)). Barnett bank required that Mr. Mitchell needed to maintain a \$1,000.00 balance in his trust account or service fees would be incurred. Mr. Mitchell had experienced some negative balances in his trust account (arising from the imposition of service fees) due to no minimum client funds being available to maintain the minimum \$1,000.00 balance. (See, Transcript of Grievance Committee dated August 13, 1991, p. 8-11). Consequently, Mr. Mitchell was attempting to comply with the bank's minimum balance requirements and at the same time, comply with the Bar's trust accounting procedures by not allowing the trust account to undergo a negative balance. (See Rule 5-1.1(e)(7)(E)).

Additionally, the Florida Bar has submitted particular checks that were made out to Mr. Mitchell for attorney fees in settlement of two worker compensation actions and deposited into his trust account. The checks were in settlement of claims settled on behalf of Mr. Mitchell's clients Bethena McCarter and Mary Benton. In each case, the employers' insurer issued two separate checks: one to the attorney for attorney fees and one to the client for her settlement amount. In each case, Mr. Mitchell deposited the attorney fees into the trust account. Ms. McCarter's check was deposited around 9/11/90 and Ms. Benton's check was deposited around 7/90.

Mr. Mitchell deposited these fees into the Trust account since he believed he was not yet entitled to the attorney fees until each client received her settlement money and signed her closing statement. In each instance, the client was in the process of moving and Mr. Mitchell was diligently attempting to ascertain their whereabouts. For example, Ms. Benton had moved from Florida to California and back to Gergia.

Mr. Mitchell had the authority to settle, but was not aware if and when these individuals would get their money or accept the amount the clients were entitled to or acquiesce to the amount of Mr. Mitchell's fees. Mr. Mitchell made the good faith decision that since there was the possibility that his attorney fees could be in dispute, that these short term funds should go into the trust account.

Mr. Mitchell submits that whether other client's funds were present in this trust account at the time these attorney fees were placed in the account is irrelevant. In Mr. Mitchell's judgment, these checks or attorney fees may or may not have been agreed to by the client and therefore, the fees were not properly his to spend. (See, Rules 5-1.1(e)(7)(A), (B), (C)).

The Florida Bar submitted other checks for attorney fees as evidence that Mr. Mitchell commingled attorney fees with that of his client's funds. However, the Florida Bar has not submitted any deposit slips or other evidence indicating that these other checks were ever deposited in the Trust account. Even if Mr. Mitchell did deposit these checks for attorney fees into the trust account, he

believed, in good faith, that the checks were needed in his trust account to maintain the bank's minimum balance.

Respondent has at all times maintained his trust account as conservatively as possible. If Respondent was unclear whether the checks made out to him for attorney fees would be agreeable to his client, he kept the checks in the trust account until the client filled out his closing statement. Once Mr. Mitchell was absolutely sure his fees were agreed to, he either transferred the amounts out of the trust account or left some money in the trust account to maintain the bank's minimum balance requirements. Although this conduct is now questioned by the bar and deemed in violation of the trust account rules, Mr. Mitchell at all times acted in good faith.

Respondent asks that the Supreme Court render its ruling with the additional knowledge that Mr. Mitchell's conduct did not harm any clients. All of Mr. Mitchell's client funds have been accounted for and each client has obtained the proper amounts agreed upon. Mr. Mitchell's conduct was neither wilfully nor intentionally instituted to abrogate the trust accounting procedures, but made in good faith.

B. Mr. Mitchell Must Be Found Not Guilty of Violating Rules 5-1.1(e) & 5-1.2 Since He Met The Minimum Requirements Of Trust Accounting Records and Procedures.

In Counts III, IV, VI of the Referee's recommendation to Florida Supreme Court, allegations were made that Mr. Mitchell did not maintain the minimum requirements for trust accounts as established by Florida Bar Rules 5-1.1(e) [where an attorney must established an IOTA account] and 5-1.2 [where the attorney must

maintain minimum standards for trust accounting records and procedures.

Mr. Mitchell acknowledges that prior to the Bar commencing its investigation he was under the misconception that his interest bearing trust account was in fact an IOTA account. However, once the Bar instituted these proceedings, Mr. Mitchell learned that his trust account was not an IOTA. Mr. Mitchell did not intentionally fail to make the trust account an IOTA account, and upon learning of this error, immediately changed the trust account over to an IOTA account. This modification took place in August, 1991 and the account has been an IOTA account from that date through the present time. Moreover, the interest earned on these client monies has been paid to the Florida Bar Foundation to date.

Prior to these proceedings, Mr. Mitchell maintained a cash receipts and disbursements journal and maintained client closing statements that acted as client ledger cards. Although monthly reconciliations were not done prior to this investigation, Mr. Mitchell now has the proper trust accounting procedures and records in effect.

Mr. Mitchell has waited three long years for the Bar's investigation to be completed. During this time, he has continued practicing law and maintaining his trust account records in accordance with the trust accounting rules and procedures to the best of his ability. During this investigation, Mr. Mitchell was shown by a certified public accountant, for the first time, exactly what methodology was necessary to comply with the trust accounting

rules. Mr. Mitchell would like the Supreme Court to know that now that he understands the necessary trust accounting schedules and process needed to comply with the rules, the prior errors he made in good faith will not be repeated. Mr. Mitchell is making every possible effort to mitigate any further infractions from occurring.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Mitchell should be found not guilty on all counts charged since the Florida Bar never introduced sufficient evidence to warrant a three month suspension. Additionally, Mr. Mitchell has abided by the professional rules of conduct and in certain instances made good faith sound judgments in which he should not have been charged or found guilty. Since that time, Mr. Mitchell has sought the services of a Certified Public Accountant and business software to maintain and regulate his trust account records and procedures.

Mr. Mitchell maintains that the penalty should be commensurate with the accusation and that the Bar's costs of investigation should be reduced or eliminated since Mr. Mitchell did not violate the rules of professional responsibility. Mr. Mitchell is open to a year's periodic audit by the Florida Bar accounting department. A three month suspension harms both the Fort Myers community by denying them access to Mr. Mitchell's services, and Mr. Mitchell's current and potential clients. This recommendation is also unfair to Mr. Mitchell and should be altered or modified to properly reflect the nature of the violations in light of the unintentional nature of the violations and the subsequent corrective efforts made

by Mr. Mitchell. Therefore, Mr. Mitchell requests that the Supreme Court order Mr. Mitchell to perform community service, attend additional CLE classes or any alternative remedy the court deems is fair in lieu of a three month suspension.