017

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J WHITE 5/2

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. 81,901

v.

The Florida Bar Case No. 91-50,560(15C)

MARZELL MITCHELL, JR.,

Respondent.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

LUAIN T. HENSEL #822868 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 N. Andrews Ave., Suite 835 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309 (305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In bar disciplinary proceedings, the party seeking review of a referee's findings and recommendations must demonstrate that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, and unless that burden is met, the referee's findings are upheld on review. Because the record is replete with clear and convincing evidence to support the referee's findings, respondent has failed to demonstrate any error.

The gravamen of respondent's argument is that he and his clients will be harmed if he is suspended from the practice of law for his failure to maintain required trust account records and follow required trust accounting procedures. Respondent's argument would be somewhat more persuasive if he had not been disciplined on not one but two prior occasions for precisely the same conduct. Respondent has been given every opportunity to correct his trust account problems and has simply failed to do so.

Because the referee's findings are supported by the evidence, his findings of fact and his disciplinary recommendation should be upheld.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATIONS ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE UPHELD BY THIS COURT.

It is axiomatic that when the findings of fact made by the referee are supported by competent substantial evidence, they must be upheld by this Court. The Florida Bar v. Seldin, 526 So. 2d 41 (Fla. 1988), The Florida Bar v. Neely, 502 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 1987). The party seeking review bears the burden of showing that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, and unless that burden is met, the referee's findings will be upheld on review. The Florida Bar v. McClure, 575 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1991). Respondent has not and cannot meet that burden. Rather than citing the evidence he deems insufficient, respondent has chosen to make the sweeping, unsupported assertion that the referee lacked sufficient evidence and then advance all of the reasons why the suspension would be unfair to him.

Not one but two bar auditors examined respondent's trust account and opined that respondent had failed to follow minimum trust account procedures and to maintain the minimum trust account records required. That respondent now claims to have corrected his errors does not vitiate his wrongdoing, particularly when the record is devoid of evidence to support that claim. More significantly, respondent has been disciplined on two prior occasions for engaging in precisely the same conduct. Respondent received a private reprimand in 1978 predicated upon his failure to maintain appropriate trust account records. At that time, it was determined that respondent's infraction was a result of ignorance rather than willful misconduct. (RR 10) In 1986, respondent received a public reprimand and was placed on probation for two

(2) years for his failure to maintain adequate trust accounting records and for commingling personal funds with trust funds. The Florida Bar v. Mitchell, 493 So. 2d 1018 (Fla. 1986). Thus, respondent has for many years been on formal notice of certain deficiencies in his trust account. However, he failed to make any effort to correct those deficiencies and now claims the recommended discipline is too harsh. While the situation in which respondent finds himself is unfortunate, he could have prevented it had he chosen to do so.

Whether any clients were dissatisfied is irrelevant to respondent's failure to maintain proper trust account records and follow mandated trust accounting procedures. Respondent also advances the argument that he is the "only African-American private general legal practitioner within a fifty mile radius of the Fort Myers area" and that his suspension would eliminate the African-American community's opportunity to obtain attorney services from an attorney with the same ethnic background. Respondent's minority status is not a mitigating factor in a disciplinary proceeding. As stated by this Court in The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 594 So. 2d 302, 304 (Fla. 1992), "... past discrimination does not create a privilege to commit crime or flout the standards of professional ethics".

It is not uncommon for attorneys to suffer hardship when they are suspended from the practice of law; however, that fact does not prevent attorneys from being suspended. Further, although respondent claims to have suffered a financial hardship "due to the economic strain this investigation has created on him and his practice", the record below is devoid of any evidence whatsoever to support that assertion. Finally, respondent's argument that he has instituted new procedures, hired a certified public accountant and installed computer technology is not only unsupported by the

record before the referee but is in fact contradicted by the record. At the final hearing, the respondent, when requesting probation rather than suspension, testified that he did not have sufficient funds to hire an accountant (RR 164 - 165).

# A. THE RECORD IS REPLETE WITH EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT COMMINGLED PERSONAL FUNDS WITH CLIENT FUNDS

The thrust of respondent's argument seems to be that there were only three instances of commingling and that each instance has a reasonable explanation. Such is not the case. Respondent argues that the first instance of commingling, the deposit of \$1,550 of personal funds was to maintain the minimum required balance in order to avoid service charges by the bank. Had respondent maintained an IOTA account, there would have been no issue concerning service charges. (Bar Exhibit 5, p. 12). On the other two occasions acknowledged by respondent, he argues that even if other client funds were in his trust account at the time he deposited fee checks, that fact is irrelevant. Respondent simply fails to grasp the concept of commingling. That fact is best illustrated by his admission that he deposited fees on a criminal case into his trust account, (T 115 - 116) despite his testimony that criminal cases are generally a flat fee rather than an hourly fee. (T 131).

The bar's auditor testified to numerous instances of commingling by respondent. (T 40-44). Respondent's "good faith belief" that the deposit of his fees into his trust account was necessary to maintain the mandatory minimum balance is neither reasonable nor logical predicated upon his assertion that the prior deposit of \$1,550 was for that purpose.

# B. RESPONDENT DID NOT FOLLOW MINIMUM TRUST ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES AND FAILED TO MAINTAIN MINIMUM TRUST ACCOUNT RECORDS

Notwithstanding respondent's claim that he converted his account to an IOTA account subsequent to the bar's investigation of his trust account and his claim that the interest earned has been paid to The Florida Bar Foundation, those claims are unsupported by the record. The respondent submitted no such evidence and is precluded from arguing facts outside the record. The evidence clearly supported the referee's finding that respondent failed to maintain an IOTA account. (T 59-60)

Respondent's claim that his conduct was not intentional, that he has now taken steps to correct the error of his ways, which is also unsupported by the record below, and that he should receive a lesser sanction is not persuasive. This respondent has on two prior occasions been sanctioned for improperly maintaining his trust account. Each rule violation found by the referee is supported by the record. To aid the Court in its review of the record, the following is a list of the violations found and the appropriate reference to the record:

<u>VIOLATION</u>	FINAL HEARING TRANSCRIPT PG(S)
4-1.15(a)	40-44
4-1.15(d)	54
5-1.1(c)	52
5-1.1(d)(2)	59-60
5-1.2(b)(2)	52
5-1.2(b)(3)	52
5-1.2(b)(5)	53
5-1.2(b)(6)	53
5-1.2(c)(1)(a)	54
5-1.2(c)(1)(b)	54

The referee's disciplinary recommendation is supported by relevant case law, respondent's prior disciplinary history, and Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Because they are interrelated, the commingling, record-keeping and procedures violations pertaining to respondent's trust account are discussed together.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Hosner</u>, 513 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 1987), the Court considered the referee's recommendation of a ninety day suspension and three years probation for failure to follow proper trust accounting procedures (including the failure to prepare periodic reconciliations) and intermingling (commingling) of personal funds with funds held in trust for clients. Since the evidence showed and the referee found negligence and potential client injury, the Court found Standard 4.13 (from the Florida Standards) to be applicable. This standard provides that a public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer is negligent in dealing with client property and causes injury or potential injury to a client. In view of the standard found to be applicable, the Court concluded that a public reprimand (with three years probation) was the appropriate discipline.

While <u>Hosner</u> indicates that a public reprimand would be appropriate discipline for respondent's trust account violations, respondent's prior disciplinary history for similar violations takes him beyond mere negligence and into the realm of intentional misconduct contemplated by Standard 4.12 of the Florida Standards (suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows or should know that he is dealing improperly with client property and causes injury or potential injury to a client). Respondent has been disciplined twice before for precisely the same conduct.

The Bar is aware that the Court has repeatedly held that "a public reprimand should be reserved for isolated instances of neglect, lapses of judgment, or technical violations of trust accounting rules without willful intent." See <a href="The Florida Bar v. Rogers">The Florida Bar v. Rogers</a>, 583 So. 2d 1379, 1382 (Fla. 1991); <a href="The Florida Bar v. Dougherty">The Florida Bar v. Dougherty</a>, 541 So. 2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1989); and <a href="The Florida Bar v. Welty">The Florida Bar v. Welty</a>, 382 So. 2d 1220, 1223 (Fla. 1980). Given his two prior disciplinary sanctions for technical violations of trust accounting rules and the awareness of these rules arising from such sanctions, respondent's latest misconduct of a similar nature should be treated as willful and therefore deserving of more than a public reprimand.

In addition to the willful nature of his misconduct, respondent's trust account infractions must result in enhanced discipline because they are cumulative in nature. Standard 9.22(a) (from the Florida Standards) recognizes prior disciplinary offenses as an aggravating factor. Further, the Supreme Court of Florida has held that cumulative misconduct will be dealt with more harshly than isolated acts of misconduct. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Dubbeld</u>, 594 So. 2d 735, 736 (Fla. 1992); <u>The Florida Bar v. Coutant</u>, 569 So. 2d 442, 443 (Fla. 1990); <u>The Florida Bar v. Golden</u>, 561 So. 2d 1146, 1147 (Fla. 1990); <u>The Florida Bar v. Bern</u>, 425 So. 2d 526, 528 (Fla. 1982); and The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So. 2d 473, 476 (Fla. 1979).

Finally, respondent failed to follow the clear mandate of the rules regulating trust accounts in that he failed to deposit all nominal or short-term funds belonging to clients or third persons (placed in trust) with him into one or more interest-bearing trust accounts for the benefit of The Florida Bar Foundation. Even prior to the time participation in the interest on trust account program (interest generated from funds nominal in amount or held for

a short term would inure to the benefit of The Florida Bar Foundation) was not mandatory, the Court recognized that an attorney could not maintain an interest bearing trust account and retain the proceeds of the interest generated for the attorney's own benefit. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Newhouse</u>, 520 So. 2d 25, 27 (Fla. 1988).

#### CONCLUSION

Pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.1, every member of The Florida Bar is charged with notice and held to know the standards of ethical and professional conduct prescribed by the Court. Article XI, Rule 11.02(1) of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar (this rule was in effect at the time of respondent's first disciplinary offense) imposed a similar requirement. Notwithstanding such notice, respondent excused his first misconduct (resulting in the 1978 private reprimand) on the basis of ignorance of the rules. In the face of Rule 3-4.1, his 1978 explanation, and his subsequent public reprimand in 1986, respondent has no excuse for not knowing the rules as they pertain to the trust accounts.

Ordinarily, the first disciplinary sanction acts as a wake-up call to the reasonably prudent attorney and serves to create heightened sensitivity to and awareness of all rules of ethical and professional conduct prescribed by the Court. Evidently the first alarm wasn't sufficiently loud because respondent committed additional trust account infractions for the period May 1, 1980 through May, 1983, resulting in the 1986 public reprimand. If the first alarm wasn't loud enough, one would think the second alarm would be a clarion call for respondent to put his law practice in order and assiduously adhere to all rules of ethical and professional conduct. Regrettably this did not occur and respondent is being prosecuted a third time for various trust account violations. Because respondent did not appropriately respond to the relatively gentle prods of a private reprimand and public reprimand, more stringent measures are appropriate. Given respondent's prior disciplinary

history, the referee's disciplinary recommendations are appropriate and should be upheld.